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INTRODUCTION

This case arises from a 29-second video clip of a dandng toddler. Stephanie Lenz made a
short home movie featuring her toddler son, Holden, dandng in he kitchen to (barely audible)
musc by the artist Prince. Excited to share this video (the QHolden VideoQ with her family and
friends she poded the 29-second clip on an Internet video hoding site, YouTubecom. Four
months later, the Holden Video disappeared from YouTube and Lenz received an ominousnotice
tha Universal Musc Publishing Group had accused her of copyright infringement. The notice
resulted in her video bang removed from YouTube for ove six weeks. Shodked and angeed,
Lenzfiled this case to hold Defendants accountable for thar misrepresentation to YouTubetha her
video infringed ther copyrghts.

Defendants have now moved to dismiss two of Lenz@ claims and to strike the third. Yet
they do not deny any of thefundamental allegaions of her complaint. They do nat deny that they
sent the takedown notice accusng her of copynght infringanent. They do not deny that the video
isjug 29 secondslong and contains at best, a baely audible version of their copyrghted songin
the background. They do not deny that, much like a doaumentary filmmaker, Lenz was smply
recording the actud experience of her son dandang and sharing tha moment via the medium of
online digital video. Ingead, Defendants bring a series of spuriouslegd attacks, even attempting
once agan to silence Lenz by claiming, withoutfounddion, that she has broken thelaw. Butthere
isno question that Lenz has therightto bring this action. DefendantsOmotionsshould be denied.

Defendants raise three arguments. First, they ingst that Lenz has not made out a cause of
action for knowing misrepresentation unde 17 U.S.C. = 512f), even thoughshe has pled every
necessary element of her claim. As part of thar argument, Defendants chdlenges this Count(3
rulingin Online Policy Groupv. Diebold, Inc., 337 F.Supp2d 1195(N.D. Cal. 2004) arguing that
it was overruled by Rossi v. MPAA, 391 F.3d 1000(9th Cir. 2004, a Ninth Circuit case tha nether
cited nor consdered Diebold. Second,they moveto strike Lenz@ interference claim on the theory
tha the takedown notice they sent to YouTubeN a private busness communicationN was

somehow speech in connection with apublicissue. Yet Defendants fail to explain what tha public
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issue might be, much less show how ther private email commented uponit. Nondhdess, Lenz
can present more than sufficient evidence to demondrate a prima facie case of interference and
defeat this motion. Findly, Defendants arguetha there is no copyright controversy between them
and Lenz, even thoughthey continueto accuse Lenz of infringing their copyrightin the very text of
ther motion. For these and other reasonsarticulated below, both of DefendantsOmotionsshould be

denied.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiff Stephanie Lenzis amother, wife, writer and editor. Sheand her hugand have two
children, Zoe (age 4) and Holden (now almost 2). Declaration of Stephanie Lenzin Oppostionto
Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Strike (Q.enz Decl.Q at | 2-3. On or about February 7, 2007,
Lenz@ children were playing in the family® kitchen when Holden, who was till learning to walk
at the time, began dandng to the Prince song Q.et@ Go Crazy.O Id. a | 4. Zoe and Holden had
recently heard the songon television during the Supe Bowl hdftime show. Id. at | 5. Using her
digital camera, Lenz decided to capture the moment on film, creating a 29-second video recording
of the children® activities, which consisted primarily of Holden@ dance (the (Holden VideoQ. Id.
a | 6. On or aboutFebruary 8, 2007,Lenz uploaded the Holden Video from her computer to the
YouTubewebste for her family and friendsto enjoy. Id. at | 7. Thevideo was publicly available
a <http://www.youtubecom/watch=N1KfJHFWIhQ>. Id. at | 8.

On or around June 4, 2007, Defendants Universa Musgc Corp., Universal Musc
Publishing, Inc. and Universal Music Publishing Group (collectively, QUniversalQ), sent a Digital
Millennium Copyright Act ((DMCAQ takedown notice pursuant to 17 U.S.C. @ 512(c) demanding
tha YouTuberemove the Holden Video because of ungecified copyright violations Declaration
of Kelly Klaus in Suppot of DefendantsOMot. to Dismiss and Speciad Mot. to Strike ((Klaus
DeclQ, Ex. C. YouTuberemoved the video and sent Lenz an email notifying her tha it had done
so in respong to Universal@ accusation of copyright infringement and warning her tha repeated
inddents of copynght infringement could lead to the ddetion of her accountand all her videos
LenzDecl. at | 10, Ex. B .

Lenz sent YouTubea DMCA counér-notification pursuant to 17 U.S.C. @ 512(g) on June
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27,2007,demanding that her video berepoged because it did not infringe Universal® copyrights.
Id. at | 12,Ex. C. Regardless, the Holden Video was unavailable on YouTubefor over six weeks.
Id. at! 10,15.

On July 24, 2007, Lenz filed a Complaint seeking redress for Universal@ misuse of the
DMCA takedown process, its accusation of copyrightinfringement, and its intentiond interference
with her contractud use of YouTube® hoging services. On Augug 15, pursuant to discussions
with Universal@ counsl, Lenz amended her Complaint to revise the named Defendants. On

September 21, Universal moved to dismiss the Complaint and to strike theinterference claim.

ARGUMENT
l. LENZ HAS STATED A CLAIM FOR RELIEF IN COUNT | UNDER SECTION 512()

In Countl, Lenz aleges every necessary element of a claim for knowing misrepresentation
unde 17 U.S.C. & 512f). Universa disputes the factud basis for these claims, as it is entitled to
do, but such disputes are propealy resolved only on summary judgnent or at trial, not on amotion
to dismiss. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477U.S. 317,327 (1986)

In orde to plead a propa 512¢) claim, a plaintiff need only allege tha the defendant (a)
knowingly made a misrepresentation tha certain online material was infringing its copyrght, (b)
tha the misrepresentation was made in a statement or action goveaned by Section512; and (c¢) tha
the misrepresentation was material. 17 U.S.C. o 512(f).

Here, Lenz has alleged exactly these elements. Specificaly, she has aleged that Universa
knowingly made a misrepresentation that the Holden Video infringed its copyright Am. Cmplt. | |
1, 14,17-20. Lenz also alleged tha this misrepresentation was made pursuant to the DMCA, 17
U.S.C. 2512 Id. Andfinally, shealleged tha the misrepresentation was material. Id.| 20. Thus
al of therequired elements of a Section 512f) claim are present.

In the face of Lenz@ well-pled complaint, Universal attacks Count | in two different but

equdly unavailing ways, both of which are discussed bd ow.

A. Universal Cannot Use A Motion To Dismiss To Dispute Lenz@® Allegations
That It Sent A Section 512 Notice

Universal@ begins by disagreeing with the facts aleged. While conceding that its notice
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appears on its face to track pefectly every single requirement of a Section 512 notice, Universal
states that it Qloes not agree tha a notice in accordance with YouTube® Terms of Use is
notification pursuant to the DMCA[.JO Mem. P. & A. in Supp of Def.3 Mot. to Dismiss
(MotionQ at 5. Thisisnotaprope basisfor amotion to dismiss. To thecontrary, onamotion to
dismiss, a court mug treat all allegations in the complaint as true Leatherman v. Tarrant Cty
Narcotics Intell. Unit., 507 U.S. 163 164 (1993. Thus Universal@ disagreement with Lenz@
alegaionsisirrelevant and impropa.® If Universal wishesto try to raise afactud dispute aboutits
notice, it mugs do so onsummary judgnent or at trial. Celotex, 477U.S. at 327.
Universal G first asserted groundfor dismissal must be denied.

B. Lenz Has Properly Pled The Knowledge Standard For 512() Actions Under
Both Ross And Diebold

Next, Universal argues tha Lenz has failed to plead tha it had Gactud knowledgeOof the

material misrepresentation it made. This is both untrue and an inaccurate statement of the prope
legd standad in 512() cases. First, Lenz haspled actud knowledge. Specifically, Lenz alleges
tha Universa Gknew or should have knownOthat the Holden Video was norrinfringing when it
sent its DMCA notice. Am. Cmplt. | 19. The GknewOlanguayein theallegaionis an allegaion of
actud knowledge

Second, Universal misapplies the Gxctud knowledgeO standad for 512¢) factual
investigatonsunde Ross v. MPAA, 391 F.3d 1000 (9th Cir. 2009, indead of the appropriate and
controlling standad for 512f) legal determinations established by this Court in Online Policy
Group v. Diebold, 337 F.Supp2d 1195 (N.D.Ca. 2004) In Ross, the Ninth Circuit examined
whethe and to what extent a copyright hdder must condud a factud investigaion before sending
a DMCA Notice in order to meet the Qyood faithOstandad required by the statute. Rossi had
established a website bearing per se hdlmarks of copyright infringement, such as graphics for a
numbe of unauthorized MPAA movies and the statements Grull Length Downloadable MoviesO

! Notwithstanding Universal @ imprope procedural argument, Section 8 of Y ouTube3 Terms of
Use expressly states nly DMCA notices should go to the Copyright Agent [with the email
address copyright@youtubecom]Q KlausDecl., Ex. A. Pre-discovery evidence shows tha
Universal sentits notice to this exact email address. 1d. at Ex. C.
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and ONOW DOWNLOADABLE.O Ross, 391 F.3d at 1002. The MPAA employee investigaing
the site saw these indicia and correctly conduded (based on his subjective and actud knowl edgeof
thefacts) tha, were such facts true, copyrightinfringanent of MPAA movies was occurring on the
Ste.

On appedl, Ross argued tha the MPAA lacked sufficient information to form a Qyood
faithObdief unde Section 512()(3)(A)(v) tha he was infringing ther copyrights and tha they
should have donea reasonable factual investigation to determine whether or notinfringament was
occurring. 1d. at 1003 The Court rejected this argument, holding the statements on Rossi®
websgte provided a sufficient basis to condudetha infringament was occurring:

These representationson the webste led the MPAA employee to condudein good

faith tha motion pictures owned by MPAA members were available for immediate

downloading from the site. The unequivocal languaye used by Ross not only

suggests tha condusgon, but virtudly compds itE. In fact, Ross even admitted

tha his own cugomers often bdieved tha actud movies were avalable for
downloading on his websdte.

Id. Based on these facts, the Court hdd tha the MPAA had a sufficient basis for its goodfaith
bdief unde Section 512 and tha such a bdief need only be based on the actual subjective
knowledge of the facts available to the notice sender and not on any further investigaion. 1d. at
10056; see also Dudnikov v. MGA Entmt., Inc., 410 F.Supp2d 101Q 1013 (D. Colo. 2005)
(following Ross and finding tha DMCA notice sende had actud knowledge of sufficient facts to
form goodfaith bdief tha infringement was occurring). Notably, the Ross court did not refer to
thestandad for making thelega determinaion of infringanent unde Section512,asthere was no
dispute tha offering thefull filmsfor download was infringing activity.?

Here, we have exactly the opposte situaion. Lenz has alleged tha Universal had actual
subjective knowledge of al of the relevant facts concerning the Holden Video. Watching the 29-
secondvideo gave Universal all thefacts it needed to know aboutthe Holden Video and the extent
to which it used any of Universa@ copyrighted works. This is al Ross requires and is exactly
wha Lenz has plead. Universal indead disputes the standad for the legal determination of

% |nfact, asthe Ninth Circuit noted, there was no suggestion in therecord tha the M PAAG bdief
regarding Rossi@ asserted infringement was other than sincere. See Ross, 391F.3d at 1005n. 8.
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whether theHolden Video infringes. However, as noted above this standard was not addressed by
Rossi; ingead, it was addressed by this Court in Diebold.

In Diebold, as is the case here, there was no dispute as to the factud basis for the
Defendant@ DM CA notices. The parties agreed tha the copyrighted works at issue were the email
archives from Diebold® corporate email system and tha the plaintiffs had poged them in ther
entirety onthar web servers. 337F.Supp2dat 119899. At issueindead was whether the posting
of those works was a fair use unde the Copyright Act and, mog importantly, whether Diebold
knew or should have known tha such pogingswere fair use when it sentits DMCA notice. Id. at
1204. This Court hdd on summary judgnent tha Diebold had violated Section 512() because it
knew or should have known tha thepogingswere fair® 1d.

This distinction beween the knowledge standads for factud investigaion versus legd
degerminaion is further suppoted by both the legidative history of Section 512 as well as Perfect
10 v. ccBill, 488 F.3d 1102 (9th Cir. 2007) another DMCA decision by the Ninth Circuit. In the
Senae Report on Section 512, Congress made it clear that Section 512 was intended to (bdance
the need for rapid respons to potentia infringement with the end-users legitimate interests in not
having material removed without recourse O Sen. Rep. No. 105190 at 21 (1998) (emphasis
addal); see also id at 49 (Section 512¢) Osintended to deter knowingly false alegaionsto service
providers in recognition tha such misrepresentations are detrimental to rights holders, service
providers, and Interne users.O (emphasis added)). Thus in passing Section 512), Congress
expressed a clear intent to protect Interng users who pog nonrinfringing material online and to
deter abuse of the Section 512 notice-and-takedown regime.

Unde Universal@ interpretation, Section 512) becomes a dead letter. By arguing an
Cactud knowedgeOstandard for legd determinaions Universal is arguing tha no copyright holder
can ever violate section 512() unless a court has previoudy ruled tha the material at issueis non

infringing. Such a rule would directly contradict the purpo and structure of Section 512. As

% Universal argues tha Diebold was overtumed by Rossi, as the Ross opinion was filed two
months after Diebold was announed by this Court. However, there is no mention of Diebold in
theRoss opinion or in the briefing before the Ninth Circuit in thecase. Thus onecannotpresume
tha the Ninth Circuit meant to address the Diebold rule, let aloneovertumn it.
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noted above Section 512 was enacted by Congress to allow for rapid respongss to potential
copyrnight infringement. 17 U.S.C. & 512c) (describing takedown procedures), (g) (describing
procedures for reingating material contingent on copyright owner@® respon to countr-notice),
and (h) (authorizing pre-litigaion subpoeas to identify users who poged allegedly infringing
material). Thus Section 512 was meant as an aterndive or, in some ingances, a precursor to a
possible infringament lawsuit, not an antecedent. If 512() liability were only available after an
infringanent action, there would be no point to the 512 process.

Moreover, such an interpretation of 512) woud fail to achieve thetwo gods set forth by
Congress in the legidative history D to protect end users posting norrinfringing material from
frivoloustakedowns and to deter abuse of the DMCA notice process. Unde Universal@ theory, a
copyright owner@® subjective bdief tha infringement had occurred, no matter how unreasonable,
could shield frivolousor malicious DMCA takedowns from any form of review or redress unde
512¢). For example, Universal could incorrectly claim tha a video tha merely mentioned the
phrase Q.et@ Go CrazyO(without copying a single note) was an infringement of its copyright, or
that a review of Prince® new album was infringing. DMCA takedowns for these examples would
be excused, unde Universal @ interpretation, because there was no ex ante legd determination on
theissueand thus noway for Universal to Gactudly knowOthelegd statusof themateria @ use.’

In fact, unde Universa @ incorrect standad, even Diebold, whom this Court hdd violated

* Such abusve takedown practices are nothypohetical. Attacks on free speech throughSection
512misuse are well-doaumented. See Landnark Education at http://www.eff.org/cases/landmark-
and-interng-archive (last visited Nov. 9, 2007)(controversial education foundadion sent DMCA
takedown agang critical doaumentary tha showed a few pages of its manud for afew seconds;
Sapent v. Geller at http://www.eff.org/cases/sapient-v-gdler (last visited Nov. 9, 2007)(Well-
known spoonbending paranomalist sent DMCA takedown agand critical 15-minute doaumentary
based on an aleged infringing eight secondsof introdudory foatage); MoveOn, Brave New Films
v. Viacomat http://www.eff.org/casessmoveon-brave-new-films-v-viacom (last visited Nov. 9,
2007)(Viacom sent DMCA takedown notice for parody of Colbert Report), Malkin v. Universal at
http://lwww.eff.org/deeplinkg200705/malkin-fights-back-agang-copyright-law-misuse-universal -
musgc-group (last visited Nov. 9, 2007 (Universal sent DMCA notice for criticism of Akonusng
short clipsof videosfor pumposes of criticism); Diehl v. Crook at hitp://www.eff.org/cases/diehl-v-
crook (last visited Nov. 9, 2007) (interviewee sent DMCA takedown notice claiming copyrightin
Fox NewsQuse of hisimagein the interview).
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512() because it sent a DMCA takedown notice when Gho reasonable copyright holder could have
bdieved tha the portions of the email archive discussing technical problems with [its] voting
machines were protected by copyright,JODiebold, 337 F.Supp2d at 1204, would have escaped
512() liability because at the time Diebold sent the notice, no court had expressly ruled on the
legd status of poging the email archive. Such a standad would provide no protection for end
users and no deterrence for abuse of the DMCA process. It cannotbewha Congress intended.

Findly, the Rossi/Diebold standards are suppoted by the Ninth Circuit® recent decisioniin
Perfect 10v. ccBill, 488F.3d 1102(9th Cir. 2007). In ccBill, the Court stated:

The DMCA requires a complainant to declare, unde pendty of perjury, tha heis

authorized to represent the copyright holder, and tha he has a goodfaith bdief tha

the use is infringing. This requirement is not superfluous Accusationsof aleged

infringement have drastic consequences. A user could have content removed, or

may have his access terminated entirely. If the content infringes, judice has been

done But if it does not, speech protected unde the First Amendment could be

removed. We therefore do notrequire a service provider to start potentially invasive

proceedingsif the complainant is unwilling to state unde pendty of perjury tha he

is an authorized representative of the copyrnght owner, and tha he has a goodfaith
bdief tha thematerial isunlicensed.

488 F.3d at 1112 As the Ninth Circuit emphasized, the requirements of 512() are important
safeguards of auser@ First Amendment rights. Section 512() is the primary remedy tha Congress
gave those users to vindicate abuse of those rights. Thus the Qyoodfaith bdiefOrequirement must
have some teeth in orde to offer users recourse. The requirement that copyright holders face
liability for 512 notices when they knew or should have known, based on thar actud knowledgeof
thefacts, that material is noninfringing provides tha recourse. Thisisthebdance struck by Ross
and Diebold and intended by Congress.

Lenz3 complaint meets these standards Lenz has pled that, having actud subjective
knowledge of al the relevant facts, Universal sent its DMCA notice to YouTube in bad faith,
knowingly misrepresenting that an infringement had taken place. Am. Cmplt. | 14,17-20. Lenz
has pled unde Diebold tha Universal knew or should have known when it sent its natice tha
LenzB use of the work was noninfringing and by sending ther notice, Universal was materially

misrepresenting that knowledge® 1d.

® Universal also argues tha there is no way for a copyright owner to tell, prior to an express court
ruling, whether or not a particular use is infringing or fair. Se2 Motion at 12-14. This argument
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. UNIVERSALG MOTION TO STRIKE ISIMPROPER AND MERITLESS

A. California@ Anti-SLAPP Law HasNo Bearing On This Case
In a sad perversion of the spirit and letter of California® anti-SLAPP law, Cal. CodeCiv.

Proc. @ 42516, Universal attempts to convince this Court tha Lenz violated the law by seeking to
vindicate her rightsin this case. Universal claims that its private infringement notice to YouTubeg
identifying Lenz® video, among 227 othas in list of dlegedly infringing works, was speech Gn
connetion with a public issueO Universal®@ sole basis for this claim is not the communication
itself, or its contents, both of which were unmistakably private. Indead, it relies entirely on the
efforts by Lenz and her counslbwell after the communication was sent and the video taken
downN to raise awareness about this case and misuse of the DMCA takedown process. In other
words unable show that its own speech was connected to a public issue, Universal attempts to turn
Lenz3 free speech againg her to dismiss her suit and sanction her.

Universa @ bootstrap approach runsdirectly contrary to the purpose of Section 42516: to
promote public discourse and the right to petition. On Universal@ theory, virtudly any tort tha
involves a communication, no matter the communication® subject matter, forum or size of the
audience, is vulnerable to an anti-SLAPP claim if the complainant calls public attention to the
tortious acts after the fact. If tha were the rule, litigants and potential litigants could never
publicly discuss or drawn media attention to thar cases, for fear of incurring the additiond legd

expenses of defending aganst an anti-SLAPP motion. The California legidature never intended

was expressy rejected by this Court in Diebold, 337, F.Supp2d at 1204 (finding no reasonable
copyright holder could have bdieved the materia at issue was infringing) as well as numerous
other courts tha have awarded attorneys fees in copyright cases where plaintiffs have brought
frivolousclaims of infringanent agang fair uses of thar material. See Tawvory v. NTP, Inc. 2007
WL 2965048(E.D.Va 2007) See also, e.g., Bond v. Blum, 317 F.3d 385, 397-8 (4th Cir. 2003)
(affirming copyright defendants fee award because fair use question was Mot a close oneDand
copyrght holders postion was frivolous and unreasonable). Video-Cinema Films, Inc. v. Cable
News Network, Inc., 2003WL 1701904at *3 (S.D.N.Y. 2003 (awarding defendantsOfees because
copyrght holder's postion on fair use was @bjectively unreasonable; Religious Tech. Ctr. v.
Lerma, 908 F.Supp 1362 1368(E.D.Va 1995)(awarding defendantsOfees because o reasonable
copyright holder could have in goodfaith brouglt a copyright infringement action.Q. Findly even
Professor Nimmer, whose treatise Universal relies uponfor this argument, acknowledges tha while
some fair use determinaionsare @loudalQ there are exceptions(such as Diebold) where copyright
owners have no redlistic chance of succeeding in thar copyright claims. Se2 3 Nimmer on
Copyright @12B.08 n.16. This case presents a textbook example of such an QundoudelOfair use.
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the anti-SLAPP statute to have such a chilling effect, nor doesiit.°

Universa @ (petitionOtheory is equdly specious, and foreclosed by its own briefing and
condud¢, which demondrates tha it never serioudy contemplated suing Lenz for copyright
infringement.

Given tha no stretch of theimagination can put the speech at issue within Section 42516@
ambit, it appears tha Universal@ true pumpos is to accomplish precisely what California@ anti-
SLAPP law was designed to prevent: the use of a meritless pleading to obtain Can econamic
advantage over acitizen party by increasing the cost of litigation  the pant that the citizen party's
case will be weskened or abandored, and of deterring future litigation.O United Sates ex rel.
Newsham v. Lodkheed Missiles & Spae Co., 190 F.3d 963 97071 (9th Cir. 1999) (citation
omitted). The threat of an attorneysOfees award, no matter how urlikely, is a serious one for Lenz
and her family, who are raising two children on one income and have few assets. This Court should

remove that improper threat immediately by denyingthe Motion to Strike.”

1. A Private Notice to Third Party Is Not Speech in Connestion with a Public
Issueor Issue of Public Interest

Unde Section 425186, it is Universal@ burden to show tha Countll is subject to a special

motion to strike, i.e. that Universal® accused actions are protected as acts in furtherance of the
right of petition or free speech in connection with a public issue Varian Med. Sys v. Delfino, 35
Cal.4th 180, 192 (2005) To meet tha burden, it mug demondrate tha its DMCA notice (1)
involves a topic of widespread public interest; and (2) itself contributes to public debae on tha
topic. See HuntingdonLife Saences, Inc. v. Sop HuntingdonAnimal Crudty, USA Inc.,, 129Cal.
App.4th 1228,1246(2009. Universal fallsfar short of meeting its burden.

® Moreover, such arule would beurfair to litigationsfrom a Due Process perspective. Few
litigants can predict wha interest the pubiic will take in thar legd case prior to publicizingit.
Unde Universal @ theory, a case that garners no public attention is not subject to 42516, while a
case tha does achieve public interest is sanctionable. To hdd plaintiffs subject to mandaory
sanctionsunde 42516 based on such unpredictable pog-filing facts is fundamentally urfair.

’ Further, because the Motionis frivolous Lenz reserves the right to seek cogs and atorneysCOfees
incurred in defending againg Universa @ motion. Cal. Code Civ. Proc. @ 42516 (c).
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a. The Takedown Notice Was A Pure Business Communication that Failed
to Comment on any Topic of Public Interest

Universal@ DMCA notice was nothing more than a private busness communication that
made no comment on any topic of public interest or matter of public debae. Universal@ notice
concerned allegationsof copyright infringement agang 228 specific videos, induding the Holden
Video. Klaus Decl. a | Ex. C. The notice made no comment other than to notfy YouTube
pursuant to the DMCA, of the dleged infringements and to request their removd. 1d. It did not
refer to any public controversy regarding any of the videos or the DMCA, nor did it mention any
public debae or comment on any public issue or concern. Id. Simply put, it was merely a private
bugness communication to which Section 42516 does not apply. See, e.g., Blackbum v. Brady,
116 Cal.App4th 670, 67677 (2009 (section 42516 did not apply to private communication
containing allegaions of fraud in connection with real estate because allegaions concerned a
Qourely busness type event or transaction and is not the type of protected activity contemplated
unde Section 42516(€).Q; Bulletin Displays, LLC v. Regency Outdoor Adwertising, Inc., 448
F.Supp2d 1172 (C.D.Cal. 2006) (statements concerning bidding strategy were related to busness
dedlingsand notissueof public interest.). Thus Universal has not met its burden of demongrating
tha its DMCA noticeitself meetsthe Section 42516 standadsfor protection.

b. Lenz® Subsequent Public Criticism of Universal@ Misconduct Does Not
Make Its Business Email Into Speech on a Matter of Public Interest

Having failed to qudify for Section 42516 protection based on the actud content and
context of its notice, Universal vagudy asserts that the notice must have been made in connection
with a matter of public interest because Lenz publicly criticized the censorid effect of that condud
after the notice was sent and had its effect of taking down the Holden Video. Motion at 16.
Universal @ theory defies both anti-SLAPP jurisprudence and common sen<e.

The anti-SLAPP andysis turns on specifics, not genealities. Since the lawsuit was filed,

Lenz and her counsdl have indeed talked publicly aboutthe takedown as an example of misuse of
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the DMCA, and the video as an example of obviousfair use® DMCA misuse and fair use are, of
course, both topics of public interest. But the existence of those broad public interests does not
retroactively tranform Universal@ notice into commentary aboutor a contribution to those topics.
In Consumer Justice Center v. Trimedica International, Inc., 107 Ca.App4th 595 (2003) for
example, a Cdifornia appdlate court rejected the defendant@ argument that its herbd supplement
brochure was speech relating to an issue of public interest smply because there was general public
interest in the topic of herbd supplements. Of we were to accept [Defendant@] argument that we
should examine the nature of the speech in terms of genealities indead of specifics, then nearly
any claim could be sufficiently abdracted to fall within the anti-SLAPP statute . . . even thoughit
is obvious tha the case was not filed for purposes of chilling paticipaion in matter of public
interest.O Id. at 601-02. Se= also Weinberg v. Feisel, 110 Ca.App4th 1122,1132(2003) citing
Hutchinson v. Proxmire, 443 U.S. 111,135(1979) (assertion of broad, amorphous public interest
insufficient).

The specific speech in question here involved a smple (abedt impropa) notice of
infringement that induded a reference, among 227 othe's, to a short home movie of a toddler
dandng. Until it was removed from YouTube tha video was of concern only to Universal, the
toddler@ family and ther friends and possibly YouTube QA] matter of concern to the speaker
and a relatively small, specific audience is not a matter of public interest.O Weinbeg, 110
Cal.App4th at 1132 (collecting cases). When the notice was sent, Lenz was not a public figure,
nor had shethrug herself into any public issue While Universal makes much of the 115000 views
and many comments the video had received as of thefiling date of Universal@ Motion, tha public
attention occurred after Lenz3 Complaint was filed. Asof June3, 2007 (oneday before the notice
was sent), the video had been viewed jug 273 times, and only a single comment had been poged
even thoughthe video had been public for months. Declaration of Micah Schaffer in Suppot of
Plaintiff@ Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss and Special Motion to Strike (CBchaffer Decl.Q at || 3-4.

8 Lenz also poged afew statements on her blog expressing her shod and ange a Universal 8
allegaion of infringament, shortly after YouTubeinformed her of theallegaion, and followed up
with afew pogs mentioning her contact with coursel. LenzDecl. at 11
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Declaration of Corynne McSherry in Suppot of Plaintiff@ Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss and Special
Motion to Strike (McSherry Decl.Q at ! 2, Ex. A. Thus at the time of the imprope takedown
request, there was no public interest in the Holden Video.

Subsquent media attention to the takedown and the video does not ater the andysis.
Indeed, Universal@ bootstrapping approach has been rejected by two California appdlate courts as
directly contrary to the limiting purpose of the puldic interest requirement. In Rivero v. AFL-CIO,
105 Ca.App4th 913 (2003) the court hdd that statements conaerning a work place dispute
were not made in connetion with a matter of public interest where the employee had previoudy
received no attention or media coverage and only a few individuds were directly affected by the
stuaion. Id. a 924 Thedispute, the court conduded, was a private matter between the paties.
Moreover, the subsequent publication of the statements (in a union newdletter) did not alter the
andysis. Of the mere publication of information . . .were sufficient to make that information a
matter of public interest, the public-issue limitation would be subdantially eroded, thus
unde cutting the obvious goal of the Legidature that the public-issue requirement hawe a limiting
effect.O Id. at 926 (emphasis added).® Similarly, in Weinbeg, the court hdd tha an advertisement
in ahobbyst newdetter (received by over 700 people) accusng an individud of thievery was nota
statement in connection with a public interest or issue where the individud accused was not a
public figure and had not thrug himself into any public issues. Weinbeg, 110 Ca.App4th at
113234. Bimply stated, causes of action arising out of false alegaions of crimind condud,
made unde [these circumstances] are not subject to the anti-SLAPP statute. Otherwise wrongful
accusationsof crimind condud . . . automatically would be accorded the mog stringent protections

provided by the law . . . aresult tha would be incongstent with the purpose of the anti SLAPP

® Conpare Averill v. Supe. Ct., 42 Gil.App.4h 1170, 11751996)(425.16 @plied to piivate
statements about batered women@ shelter tha had dready been subject of condderable pubic
controversy, induding local land use hearings); Sipple v. Found. For Nationd Progress, 71
Cal.App.4h 226, 23839 (1999)(425.16 pplied to dlegaionsof domestic violence agang
naiondly-known poltical conaultant who usgd domestic violence issue in pditical
campagns).
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statute.Old. at 1136%°

c. Universal Has Not and Cannot Show that Its Notice Contributed to Public
Debate

Equdly importantly, there Ghould be some degree of closeness between the chdlenged
statements and the asserted public interest.O Weinbeg, 110 Cal.App4th at 1132. Even if the
video were an Ossue of public interestO before this lawsuit was filedN which it was notN
Universa @ notice did not GontributeOto public debae aboutit; rather, the notice was designed to
cut off any public commentary on the video by making it unavailable. Moreover, since the notice
was sent solely to YouTube via private email, there is no evidence tha Universal intended any
member of the pulic to ever see it. It would be a curious perversion of the anti-SLAPP law to
condrue a private email intended to cause the removd of a visud work (as well as 227 other
works) as a contribution to Qpublic debateOabout tha work. Huntingdon, 129 Cal.App. 4th at
1246;see also Weinberg, 110Cal.App4th at 113233 (thefocusof the speaker's condud should be
the public interest rather than a mere effort Qo gather ammunition for another round of [private]

controversy....Q citing Connick v. Myers, 461U.S. 138,148(1983.

2. A Private Notice to a Third Party of An Alleged Infringanent is Not Speech
in Suppot of Rightto Petition

Universa@ alterndive claimN tha the notice was speech in furtherance of Universa®@
right of petitionN is equdly unavailing.

Universal cannot succeed because it cannot meet its burden of showing tha it Gerioudy
congderedOpursuing litigaion agang Lenz when it sent its DMCA notice. See, e.g. AF. Brown
Elec. Contractor Inc. v. Rhino Elec. SuppVy Inc, 137 Ca.App4th 1118 (2006) as modified,
rehearing denied, review denied. For example, in Rohdev. Wolfe, 154 Cal.App4th 28 (2007N a

19 Even Universal & own citation demondrates theinadequacy of its claim. In Damonv. Ocean
Hills Jourmnalism Club, 85 Cal.App.4th 468(2000) the court hdd that statements aboutthe
goveanance of a 3,000 member gated community, induding upaming elections were madein
connection with a matter of public interest. Observing tha homeowners assodationswere
equivalent to a Gecond municipa government,Oand tha the statements involved Gundanental
choicesOabouttha govenment, the court hdd that they were madein connestion with a topic of
public interest because they concerned Gan inhaently political question of vital importance to each
individud and to the community as awhole.O Id. at 479. A nofice of infringement aboutahome
movie hardly compares..
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case Universal itself citesN the court hdd tha threatening messages from attorney in connestion
with an asset that was already subject to specific legd threats by both parties Chad to be in
anticipation of litigation @ontemplated in goodfaith and unde seriousconsderation® Id. at 36-7,
quoing Action Apartment Ass@, Inc. v. City of Santa Monica, 41 Cal.4th 1232 1251(2007)™

Here, Universal itself demonstrates it never seriously contemplated litigation againg Lenz
Universal conceded tha its notice Qlid not indicate any intent or threat to sue OMotion at 3, 21.
Universal did notfile suit following Lenz& DMCA counier-notice nor at any time since. Universal
has not contacted Lenz or her attorneys to threaten such a suit. Having admitted it had no serious
intent to sue when the notice was sent, and affirmed tha lack of intent throughits own subsquent
condud, Universal cannotnowN in hindsghtN go back and claim otherwise. 2

Plaintiff@& cause of action bears noneof the thdlmarks of a SLAPP.O Lockheed, 190F.3d
at 970. Sheis hadly seeking to use legd process to chill speech in connestion with a puldic issue
shut down debate, or thwart anyonéd3 right of petition. Quite the contrary: Plaintiff@ interference
claim seeks redress for Universal® effort to silence her speech. Not surprisingly, Universa has
not and cannot meet its threshold burden of showing the anti-SL APP statute applies. The motion
to strike should bedenied onthat basisalone Nawellier v. Sketten, 29 Cal.4th 82, 88-9 (2002.

B. Lenz HasEgablished a Prima Facie Case of Tortious Interference
Even if Universal could show tha Section 42516 applied to Lenz®3 interference claim,

Universal @ anti-SL APP motion still must be denied because L enz can make a prima fade showing
tha shewill prevail ontheclaim. Cal. CodeCiv. Proc. @ 42516(b)(1).
In consdering whether Lenz has made that showing at this early stagein thelitigaion, the

Court Ghdl consider the pleadings and suppoting and opposng affidavits stating the facts upon

! Contrary to Universal @ protestations alegd contoversy over intellectud propaty rightsthat is
asufficiently conarete to merit adeclaratory judgnent may easily exist even where an intellectud
propaty owne has not serioudy consdered litigaion. See, e.g., Sandsk Corp. v. ST
Microdectronics, Inc., 480F.3d 1372 (Fed. Cir. 2007) (finding declaratory judgment jurisdiction
even where defendants had affirmed tha they had no plansto file suit).

12 This standad is derived from cases addressing the California® litigation privilege, Cal. Civ.
Coder 47(b). See, eg., Action Apartment, 41 Cal.4th at 1251 Thus Universal® assertion of the
litigation privilege, Motionat 16 n.19, failsfor the same reason.

-15

OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS AND MOTION TO STRIKE




© 00 N o o b~ w N Pk

N RN DN N N N N N DN R PR R R R R R R R
0o N o N~ W N RBP O ©W 0 N O 0o M W N L O

Case 5:07-cv-03783-JF Document 21  Filed 11/13/2007 Page 22 of 31

which the liability . . . is based,0Cal. Code Civ. Proc. & 42516(b)(2), and, in light of same,
determine whether a Qeasonable juryOcould find in her favor. Metaboife Intd, Inc. v. Wornick,
264 F.3d 832,840 (9th Cir. 2001) On ruling on a motion to strike, thetrial court does not weigh
the evidence or determine questions of credibility; indead the court accepts as true al of the
evidence favorable to the plaintiff. ONagd v. Twin Labs, Inc., 109 Cal.App.4th 39, 45-46 (2003.
Indeed, the California Supreme Court has recognized tha the anti-SLAPP Qitatute poses no

obdacle to suits that possess minimal merit.O Nawvellier, 29 Cal.4th at 93,

1. Lenz Will Prevail on Her Claim For I nterference With Contract.

Lenz@3 claim of tortiousinterference with contract requires only tha she show Q1) a valid
contract between the plaintiff and a third paty; 2) defendant@ knowledge of the contract; 3)
defendant@ intentiond acts designed to induee a breach or disruption of the contractud
relationdhip; 4) actud breach or disruption of the contractud relationship; and 5) resulting
damage O Reevesv. Hanlon, 33 Cal.4th 1140,1148(2004) see also Quelimane Commpany, Inc., V.
Seewart Title Guar. Co., 19 Cal. 4th 26,55 (1998) QNrongfulness independent of theinduement
to breach the contract is not an element of the tort of intentiond interference with existing
contractud relationg.]OQudimane 19 Cal.4th at 55 (emphasisin origind).

a. AValid Contract Existed Between Lenz and YouTube.

Unde the California Civil Code a contract is ssimply defined as Gin agreement to do or not
do a certain thing.O Cal. Civ. Coder 1549 There is ample evidence of such an agreement here.
When Lenz signed up for her YouTube account she explicitly agreed to the terms of use and
privacy policy by clicking a button with thewords (Bign UpOnext to a checked checkbox stating O
agree to theterms of use and privacy pdicy.OSee Lenz Dedl. at | 9 and Ex. A.

Courts have had no difficulty conduding that web site Terms of Use like YouTubes®
establish a contractud relationship. See, eg., Cairo, Inc. v. CrossMedia Sevs,, Inc., No. C 04
04825 JW, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 845Q at *12, 2005 WL 756610(N.D. Cal. April 1, 2009;
Feldman v. Google, Inc., No. 06-254Q 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22996,2007 WL 966011 (E.D.
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Penn.2007)"

Lenz and YouTube entered into a binding contract by which Lenz used YouTube3 video
hoding services.

b. Universal Knew About the Contract Between Lenz and YouTube.

Universal was certainly aware of the YouTubeTerms of Service and that videosare posted
(and removed) pursuant to those terms. Se= Motion at 2 (takedown request sent Qpursuant to

Y ouTube® poged OPerms of Use.@), 5 (citing Klaus Decl., Ex. A).

c. Universal@ Intentional Act Was Designed to Induce a Breach or
Disruption of the Contractual Relationship Between Lenz and YouTube.

As for the third element, Universal@ own admissions demondrate that Universal knew of
the agreement and tha interference with tha agreement was a necessary consequence of its action
Asthe Restatement of Torts explains

Therule stated in this Section applies. . . to an interference tha isinddental to the

actor's indegpendent purpoe and desire but known to him to be a necessary
conequeance of hisaction.

Qudimane 19 Cal.4th at 56 (quoing Rest. 2d. of Torts, @ 766 comment j).** Universa has
admitted that it sent its notice, pursuant to Y ouTube® Terms of Use (see above), in order to have
LenzB3 video taken down. Se=Motionat 1 (AUniversal@notice E requested that Y ouTuberemove
or disable access to the podingsQ, 6 (quoing Universa @ notice to YouTube Klaus Decl., EXx.
C.). Thus Universal knew tha sending the takedown notice would cause Lenz3 video to be
removed from YouTube and would thereby disrupt the agreement Lenz and Y ouTubeentered into
when she accepted YouTube3 Terms of Use. |d.

d. TheLenz/YouTube Contract WasActually Disrupted

Universal incorrectly suggests tha Lenz mug identify and prove interference with
paticular contractud rights. Not so. Lenz need only establish that a Qlisruption of the contract

relationship occurred.O Qudimane 19 Cal.4th at 55; see also Sebastian Intern., Inc. v. Russolillo,

13 Even Universa admits tha the Terms of Use Gets forth the standards tha users must conform to
if they wish to use thewebste.OMotion at 18 (emphasis added).

14 While Universal 3 act was wrongful, Lenz need not show it to bewrongful other than thefact
tha it interfered with thecontract. Qudimane 19 Cal.4th at 56.
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162 F.Supp2d 1198 1204 (C.D.Cal. 2001) (Qhe Califomnia courts have made clear tha
OnterferenceOdoes not necessarily require evidence of any Greach.@). Indeed, the California
Supreme Court has hdd thetort Qrermit[] liability where the defendant does not literally induce a
breach of contract, but makes plaintiff's peformance of the contact Gnore expensive or
burdensome.@® Rarmona Manor Convalescent Hosp. v. Care Enters., 177 Cal.App.3d 1120,1131
(1986)(quoing Lipmanv. BrisbaneElementary Sc. Dist., 55 Cal.2d 224, 232(1961)).

As this Court has hdd, Qbly sending a letter, the copyright holder can effectuae the
disruption of ISP service to clients.O Diebold, 337 F.Supp2d at 120506. Thé is precisely wha
occurred here. Lenz@ video was removed as a direct result of Universal® takedown notice, and
took her a step closer to having her account revoked unde YouTube® takedown policy. See
Motion at 6-7 (describing takedown process) and Lenz Decl. | 10and Ex. B.

Universal® contention that the contract was Qhot interfered with; the @ontractOwas
followed,Ois bdied by the Terms of Use: DMCA notices are only permitted when the copyright
holder (bdieve[s] tha any User Submission or other content infringes upon your copyrights.O
Klaus Decl., Ex. A. Thus the contract only provides for removds based on receipt of prope
DMCA notices, i.e., notices based on a good faith bdief of infringement. Universa® imprope
notice mised YouTubeto removeavideo it would not have otherwise taken down.

e. Lenz Suffered Damage as a Result of the Disruption.

Lenz was damaged by Universa@® interference in at least two ways. First, she was
deprived of YouTubeB video hoding services for six weeks. While Y ouTubeprovides storage for
video files and the bandwidth needed to trander such files a no cod to users, comparable
replacement services can cost up to $3900 per month. McShery Decl. |} 3-5, Exs. B-D. Thus
Y ouTube® video hoding services represent valuable consderationto Lenz. Lenz Decl. ! 15,

Second, but perhgps more importantly, Universal®@ condud caused Lenz to lose the First
Amendment bendit of having her video poged on YouTube and chilling her First Amendment-
based right to fair use of Q.et@ Go Crazy.OLenz Decl. !16. The loss of First Amendment
freedoms, for even minima peiods of time, hams Lenz. See New York Times Co. v. United

Siates, 403U.S. 713(1971)(any loss of First Amendment rights can cause irreparable injury).
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f. Universal HasNot Satisfied Its Burden of Proving Its Claimed Defenses.
QA]lthoughsection 42516 places on the plaintiff the burden of subdantiating its claims, a

defendant that advances an affirmative defense to such claims propely bears the burden of proof
on the defense.O Peregrine Funding, Inc. v. Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hanpton LLP, 133
Ca.App4th 658 675676(20095. Universal has agan failed to meet its burden.

(i) Universal Has Falled to Show That Its Interference With the Lenz/YouTube
Contract was Justified as a Matter of Law.

Judification nomally cannot be determined on a motion to dismiss, and this case is no
exception. Establishing the existence of judification dependson a detailed and highly fact-specific
inquiry: Qbjaandng of the importance, soda and private, of the objective advanced by the
interference againg the importance of the interest interfered with, congdering al circumstances
induding the nature of the actor@ condud and the relationship between the parties.O Herron v.
State Farm Mutual Ins Co., 56 Cal.2d 202,206-207 (1961) see also Rest.2d Torts, @ 767. Thus
the question of Qvhether the actor's condud was fair and reasonable unde the circumstances E s
a question for determination by the trier of fact.0 SadeShoeCo. v. Oschin and Sryder, 162
Cal.App.3d 1174 1180(Ca. App. 1989 (emphasis added).

Universal has made no seriousattempt to provide this Court with the necessary factud basis
to condud such an inquiry. Indeed, its argument on judification does not cite to any record
evidence. See Motion at 19%° It is therefore ingppropriate to determine the applicability of
Universal@ judification defense at such an early stage, before Lenz has had any oppotunity to
condud any discovery on whether Universal& condua was fair or reasonable.’

Further, the available facts show tha Universa® condud was not judified because its

takedown notice had no lawful founddion and was made in bad faith. See Section |. B, above

!> For example, Universal has provided no evidence aboutwho reviewed the Holden Video prior to
sending its DMCA notice, wha thos people knew aboutthevideo at thetime, or any other
evidence of thar variousstates of mind.

16 Because thecase isin afederal court, anti-SLAPP discovery limitationsdo not apply.
Metaboiife Intd®, Inc. v. Wornick, 264 F.3d 832, 846 (9th Cir. 2001) Roge's v. Home Shopjing
Network, 57 F.Supp2d 973 982(C.D. Cal. 1999) In addition, if the Court determinesthat it
requires further evidence in order to rule on Universal @ motion to strike, Lenz requests that the
Court defer itsruling pending completion of discovery.
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L enz has pled and can prove tha Universal has not Gomplied with its statutory obligations[and]
its actionswere [nof] sincere and propa in means and purpox.0 Rossi, 391 F.3d at 1006. Even
the mog cursory review of the video would have given Universal actud knowledge tha the
takedown notice wrongfully suppressed Lenz3 right to fair use of QLet@ Go Crazy.O See Motion
at 6 (describing video, and thereby showing tha Universal has actud knowledge of its content).
Universal was not legitimately protecting its copyright interests, but abusng the takedown process.
Indeed, Universal has publicly admitted that it sent the notice at Prince@ behest, based not on the
paticular characteristics of the Holden Video but solely onits bdief tha as Ga matter of prindpleO
Prince has the right to have his music removed.O McSherry Decl. Ex. E. Thus if anything, the

available evidence shows alack of judtification’

(i) Lenz® State Claim Is Not Preempted By Federd Law
Findly, Universal briefly suggests Lenz@ interference claim is preempted in light of this

Court@® determination that Section 512¢) preempted an interference with contract claim unde the
factsin Diebold. Inthat case, this Court said:

Preemption occurs Qvhen compliance with both state and federal [lawg] is a
physcal impossibility or when state law stands as an obstacle to the
accomplishment and execution of the full purmposes and objectives of Congress.O
Hillsborough County Fla. v. Automated Med. Labs. Inc., 471U.S. 707,713 (1985)
(internd citations omitted); see also In re Cybernetics Sevs,, Inc., 252 F.3d 1039
1045(9th Cir. 200)) (internd citation omitted). Even if a copyright holder does not
intend to cause anything other than the removd of alegedly infringing material,
compliance with the DMCAG® procedures nonehe ess may result in disruption of a
contractud relationship: by sending a letter, the copyrnght holder can effectuate the
disruption of ISP service to clients. If adhaence to the DMCAG provisions
simultaneoudy subjects the copyright holder to state tort law liability, there is an
irrecondlable conflict between state and federal law. To the extent that Plaintiffs
arguetha there is no conflict because Diebold® use of the DMCA in this case was
based on misrepresentation of Diebold@ rights, their argument is undecut by the
provisions of the statute itself. In section 512¢), Congress provides an express
remedy for misuse of the DMCA@ safe harbor provisons

337 F.Supp2d at 120506. For the reasonsset forth bdow, Lenz respectfully urges the Court to

reconsder its prior holding.

| n an attempt to bolster its justification argument, Universal points to Rossi, which dismissed an
interference with contract claim because plaintiff Ross had failed to establish the absence of
judification, as required by Hawaiian law. Motionat 19 (citing Ross, 391F.3dat 1009. Unde
Californialaw, however, judificationis an affirmative defense and Lenz need nat establish the
absence of judification to make a primafacie case of interference. Herron 56 Cal.2d at 207.
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First, it is cruda tha any preemption andysis be rooted in Section 301 of the Copyright
Act, which limits Copyright Act preemption to the Qhe subject matter of copyright as specified by
sections 102 and 103017 U.S.C. @ 301(a). Furthe, the Copyright Act expressy states that
dn]othing in this title annuls or limits any rights or remedies unde the common law or statutes of
any State with respect to E activities violating legd or equitable rights tha are not equivalent to
any of the exclusive rights within the general scope of copyright as specified by section 106.0 17
U.S.C. ©301()(3) (emphasis added). Thus where Qquditatively other elements are required,
ingead of, or in addition to, the acts of reprodudion, peformance, distribution, or display, in order
to conditute a state-created cause of action, then theright does not lie Qvithin the general scope of
copyrightCand there is no pre-emption.O 1 NIMMER oN COPYRIGHT ©1.01[B][1]; see also Kodadé
v. MTV Networks, 152F.3d 1209 1212(9th Cir. 1998) (citing NIMMER).

When Congress passed the DMCA, it added Section 512 but elected not to modify Section
301 to expand the scopeof preemption beyond Section 1062 Moreover, nothing in the legisative
history of the DMCA gives any indication tha Congress intendad Section 512() to preempt state
law tort clams. See H.R. Conf. Rep. 105796 (Octobea 08,1999; H.R. Rep. 105-551(11) (July 22,
1998) H.R. Rep. 105551(1) (May 22,1998) and S. Rep. 105190 (May 11,1998. While, asthis
Court noted, Diebold, 337 F.Supp2d at 1205 Section 512() created an Gxpress remedy for
misuse of the DMCAQ safe harbor provisionsO a plaintiff suing unde Section 512() is not
asserting any rights equivalent to those specified by Section 106: the exclusve rights of
reprodudion, preparation of derivative works, distribution, and display. Rather, it is seeking
redress for misuse of the DMCA takedown procedures.

Accordingly, because Section 512 is part of the same title (Title 17) as Section 301, it
should not be condrued to Gannul or limitOany state law claim, as long as tha claim indudes
elements tha are in addition to or instead of, the acts specified in Section 106. Ses Del Madeaa
Props v. Rhodes & Gardnea, 820 F.2d 973, 976 (9th Cir.1987) overruled on other grounds

18 |n the same year, Congress did modify Section 301 in the Sonny Bono Copyright Term
Extenson Act, PubL. 105298,2 102a) in light of other legidative changes. Thus Congress was
aware of Section 301 andthe effect tha amendments to the Copyright Act might have onits scope
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Fogety v. Fantasy, Inc, 510U.S. 517 (1994) (stating test for Section 301 preemption); NIMMER
ON COPYRIGHT & 1.01[d][ii], n.96 (Qo the extent tha contract interference emerges from activity
other than unauthorized reprodudion, distribution, performance, etc., then the elements are distinct
and pre-emption should notlie.Q. Lenz@ interference claim does not touch on any right equivalent
to Section 106 of the Copyright Act. It dso includes numerousadditiond elements. Thus it isnot
and cannotbe preempted unde Section 301.

In Diebold, this Court did not condud a Section 301 andysis. Rather, it briefly examined
the dodrines of conflict and field preemption. In so doing, it foundtha conflict preemption could
exist where propa adheence to the DMCAG provisions simultaneoudy subjects the copyright
holder to state tort law liability. Diebold, 337 F.Supp2d at 120506 (emphasis added). Here,
however, Lenz has aleged tha Universal violated the DMCAG provisions through its knowing
misrepresentation of infringament. By the same token, Lenz® claim for intentiond interference
does not create an irrecondlable conflict between state and federal law. Theaffirmative defense of
QuatificationOdiscussed above provides that proper adheaence to the DMCAQ notice provisions
does not, and indeed cannot, simultaneoudy subject a defendant to state tort liability.”® Thus in
this case, Lenz@ interference claim complements rather than conflicts with Section 5122

Indeed, far from than Gtand[ing] as an obdacle to the accomplishment and execution of the
full pumposes and objectives of Congress,O Hillsborough County Fla., 471 U.S. a 713, Lenz®
claims enhance the purposes of Congress in crafting Section 512f): Qo deter knowingly false
allegaionsto service providersin recognition that such misrepresentationsare detrimental to rights

holders, service providers, and Internet users.O H.R. Rep. 105551(11) (July 22,1998)at 59.%* See

19 This complimentary structure is congstent with the holding in Rossi, where the Ninth Circuit
consdered atortiousinterference with contractud relationsclaim arising from a takedown notice,
butdid notfind conflict preemption. Rather, the Court foundtha Ross has not met his burden to
(prove Ghe absence of judification onthe defendant's part ... Rossi, 391F.3d at 1006(citing Lee
v. Aiu, 85 Hawai® 19, 936P.2d 655 668(1997). Had Ross proven an absence of judification, it
appearstha the Ninth Circuit would have alowed his claim to stand.

2 |n addition, Universal has waived any claim for aconflict between the DMCA and state law,
sinceit assertstha it did not send the notice pursuant to the DMCA.

2L Similarly, in trademark law, state law can expand therights of afederal registrant without
caugng conflict preemption. See Golden Door, Inc. v. Odisho, 646F.2d 347 (9th Cir. 1980)
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In re World Auxiliary Power Co., 303F.3d 1120,1131(9th Cir. 2002)(recognizing a presumption
agang preemption of state laws and applying presumption in copyright case).

As to field preemption, this Court noted in Diebold tha Qi]n section 512), Congress
provides an express remedy for misuse of the DMCAG safe harbor provisionsO 337 F.Supp2d at
1206. However, the provison of an express remedy is not the same as the provison of an
exclugve remedy. If tha were the case, then any time a party infringed a copyright, the copyrght
owner could only sueher for copyrightinfringement and not for any conaurrently violated state tort
or breach of contract. Courts have congstently found tha supplemental state causes of action are
not preempted in comparable circumstances. See, e.g., Bowers v. Baystate Techs, Inc., 320 F.3d
1317,132526 (Fed. Cir. 2003 (enforcement of contracts for copyrighted works nat preempted).

Moreover, the Supreme Court has hdd tha

Congress intent to supasede state law altogeher may be found from a scheme of
federa regulation . . . so pervasve as to make reasonale the inference tha
Congress left no roomfor the States to supplement it, because the Act of Congress
may toudh afield in which thefederal interest is so dominant tha thefederal system
will be assumed to preclude enforcement of state laws on the same subject, or
because the object soughtto be obtained by the federa law and the character of
obligaionsimposd by it may reveal the same purmpo<.

Padfic Gas& Elec. Co. v. Energy Res. Congervation and Dev. Comm@®, 461U.S. 190 204(1983)
Thus in order for a court to infer tha Congress has meant to occupy a field and provide exclusve
remedies, there mugt be evidence that Congress intended to leave Qho room for the States to
supplementOthe federal scheme. Here, as noted above there is no such evidence in the text of
Section512or its legidative history.

Furthermore, Qw]hen Congress has consdered the issue of pre-emption and has induded
in the enacted legidation a provision explicitly addressing tha issue, and when tha provision
provides a @eliable indicium of congressiond intent with respect to state authority,OGhere is no
need to infer congressiond intent to pre-empt state laws from the subgantive provisionof the
legislation OCipollonev. Ligget Group,Inc., 505U.S. 504 517(1992)(internd citationsomitted).
Congress enacted and has preserved Section 301, a provision tha explicitly addresses preemption
and expressy states tha nothingin Title 17, which indudes Section 512, would eliminae state law

claimslike Lenz@ ba Qeliable indicium of congressiond intentOif there ever was one

-23

OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS AND MOTION TO STRIKE




© 00 N o o b~ w N Pk

N RN DN N N N N N DN R PR R R R R R R R
0o N o N~ W N RBP O ©W 0 N O 0o M W N L O

Case 5:07-cv-03783-JF Document 21  Filed 11/13/2007 Page 30 of 31

[I. THE LENZ COMPLAINT PRESENTS A JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY
Unde the Declaratory Judgnent Act (DJAQ, an individud may file suit in federal court or

counterclam in an existing suit to obtain a declaration of rights with respect to another partyb
whether or not other relief (such as damages or an injundion) is or could be sought 28 U.S.C.
1 2201(2006) To seek declaratory judgment, a party need only file an Gippropriate pleadingQthat
establishes (1) jurisdiction; and (2) the existence of an actud case or controversy between paties
having adverse legd interests. Hortonv. Liberty Mut. Ins Co., 367U.S. 348 357(1961) Theeis
no universal rule for compliance with the latter element; rather, the andysisis tied to the facts of
the case. (JT]he question in each case is whether the facts alleged, unde all the circumstances,
show tha there is a subdantia controvesy, beween paties having adverse legd interests, of
sufficient immediacy and reality to warrant the issuance of a declaratory judgment.O Maryland
Cas Co. v. Pac. Coal & Qil Co., 312U.S. 270,273 (1941) quotd and affirmed in Medimmune
Inc. v. Genentech, Inc. 127 S.Ct. 764, 771-72 (2007) Addressing this question, courts have
stressed that the DJA Ghould be liberally condrued to accomplish its intended purpose of
affording a speedy and inexpensve method of adjudicating legd disputes . . . and to settle legd
rights and remove uncertainty and insecurity from legd relationships. . . .O Beacon Consr. Co. v.
Matco Elec. Co., 521 F.2d 392 397 (2d Cir. 1979; see also Allstate Ins Co. v. Emp. Liab. Assur.
Co., 445F.2d 1278 1280(5th Cir. 1971) (JDJA] is to be liberally congrued to achieve its . . .
sdutary purpox.Q

The Supreme Coutt has recently reaffirmed tha the actud controversy requirement is
satisfied if the dispute is Qiefinite and conaete, touching the legd relations of parties having
adverse interestsO and Qeal and subgantialO such tha it will permit QGypecific relief through a
decree of a condusive character.O Medimmune 127 S.Ct. at 771. Thus in Sandsk Corp. v. ST
Microdecs., Inc., 480 F.3d 1372 (Fed. Cir. 2007), for example, the Federa Circuit Court of
Appeas hdd tha a party had standing to seek a declaratory judgment of non-infringement where a
paentee took a postion tha forced the plaintiff to choo® beween pursuing arguadly illegd
behavior or abandoning tha which he claimed to have a right to do. Indeed, even a Qlirect and

unequivocal statementOthat, as appears to be the case here, defendants had Gibsolutely no planOto
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sue plaintiffs did not eliminate jurisdiction. Id. at 1376;see also Uniform Prod. Code Courcil v.
Kadow, 460 F. Supp. 900, 903 (S.D.N.Y. 1978) (Quitimate exposure of plaintiff to an action by
defendant ... clearly gives plaintiff standing to bring an action for declaratory judgnent . . . .Q.
Andin acase cited by Universal itself, a court found declaratory judgnent jurisdiction applied to a
clam by an employee who, thoughcurrently employed by the defendant, would be exposed to an
adverse calculation of bendfits, based on a disputed policy, in theevent tha sheleft the company or
was terminaed. Hulteenv. AT&T Corp., 498F.3d 1001,1004n.1 (9th Cir. 2007). In other words
the defendant®@ refusal to change the policy created a sufficiently subgantial dispute to justify
jurisdiction even thoughlegd action might never occur.

Lenz, like the plaintiffs in Sandsk and Hulteen, is exposd to a possible action by
Universal. The dispute is definite and conaeteN Universal has claimed tha a particular video is
infringes its copyrights, and that statement has already had the real and substantial consequence of
causng the removd of the video from YouTubefor six weeks. Like the Defendant in Hulteen,
Universal refuses to admit tha its view of the law is incorrect, forcing Lenz, like the Hulteen
plaintiff, to exist in alegd limbo, awaiting an infringanent claim tha may or may not come. See
Motion at 4 (alleging Plaintiff@ use has resulted in thousinds of infringements). Until Lenz is
released from potentia liability, the dispute between the paties remainsalive.

V. CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the special motion to strike and the

motion to dismiss Lenz® claims.

DATED: November 13,2007 By /9
CorynneMcSherry, ESq.

ELECTRONIC FRONTIER FOUNDATION
454 Shotwell Street

San Frandsco, CA 94110

Tel: (415)436:9333Fax: (415 4369993

Attorneysfor Plaintiff Stephanie Lenz
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